Protein Production in Eukaryotic Cells

Kripa Ram, Diane Hatton, Sanjeev Ahuja, Jean Bender, Alan Hunter, and Richard Turner

Abstract The scientific and engineering aspects of design, development, scale-up, and manufacture of monoclonal antibodies are summarized in this chapter by outlining the key elements in the development of the expression cell line, cell culture, cell harvest, and protein purification process and exploring the effect of process technologies on production economics.

Keywords Bioreactor, Bioreactor sterility, Cell culture scale up, Cell harvest, Cell line screening, Chinese hamster ovary cell line, Continuous centrifugation, Cost modelling, Cost of goods, Depth filtration, Disc stack centrifuge, Economies of scale, Genetic stability, Host cell protein, Ion exchange, Medium optimization, Phenotypic stability, Process economics, Protein expression, Run rate, Sigma factor chromatography, Viral clearance

Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Cell Line
 - 2.1 Choice of a Host Cell Line
 - 2.2 Gene Transfection
 - 2.3 Clone Selection and Single-Cell Progeny
 - 2.4 Phenotypic and Genotypic Stability
 - 2.5 Cell Banking
 - 2.6 Safety Testing
- 3 Cell Culture Process

D. Hatton and R. Turner MedImmune, Cambridge, UK

K. Ram (⊠), S. Ahuja, J. Bender, and A. Hunter MedImmune, Gaithersburg, MD, USA e-mail: ramk@medimmune.com

- 3.1 Inoculum Train
- 3.2 Production Bioreactor
- 3.3 Modes of Operation
- 3.4 Process and Media Optimization
- 3.5 Equipment Design and Maintaining Sterility
- 3.6 Process Scale-Up
- 4 Harvest
 - 4.1 Methods for Cell Harvest
 - 4.2 Scale-Up of Centrifugation
 - 4.3 Filter Sizing
- 5 Purification
 - 5.1 Purification Process Targets
 - 5.2 Purification of Monoclonal Antibodies
 - 5.3 Affinity Chromatography
 - 5.4 Ion Exchange Chromatography
 - 5.5 Hydrophobic Interaction and Multimodal Chromatography
 - 5.6 Scale-Up of Chromatography Steps
 - 5.7 Viral Safety Considerations
 - 5.8 Ultrafiltration/Diafiltration (UF/DF)
- 6 Process Economics
 - 6.1 Titer and Economies of Scale
 - 6.2 Purification Yield
 - 6.3 Batch Duration: Run Rate
 - 6.4 Material Costs and Process Configuration
 - 6.5 Cost Modeling
- 7 Summary

References

1 Introduction

As the role of biologics in treating human diseases has evolved dramatically over the past decade, so has the technology to manufacture, test, and administer these products. This has been driven largely by improved understanding of the biological mechanism of action, the role of the structure of the molecules on the mechanism, and the role of the manufacturing process on the structure of the molecule. Among the various types of biologics, monoclonal antibodies now represent the largest segment of biopharmaceutical proteins in terms of sales. A 2015 study shows 8,182 kg of biopharmaceutical monoclonal antibody products were produced, representing nearly \$60 billion in sales in 2013 [1]. Given this large demand for mAb products, along with increasing price pressures, and most of all an urgency to bring these biopharmaceuticals to patients, process scientists and engineers have developed "platform" processes with extremely high productivity; analytical scientists have developed sophisticated techniques to decipher attributes critical to quality; formulation scientists have developed formulations that allow storage at high concentrations for several years; and device engineers continue to develop modes of administration more convenient to the patient.

Depending on the commercial demand for the product and the available manufacturing facility, different manufacturing technologies are employed. The most prevalent among these is the fed-batch mode of bioreactor operation and batch mode of chromatography operation. However, the use of continuous manufacturing that relies on perfusion-based bioreactor operation and continuous flow chromatography operation is being developed to increase plant throughput [2]. This chapter will focus on batch manufacturing technology in order to anchor the reader in the most common process scheme used today. Also, this chapter will focus on manufacture of drug substance only. The reader is encouraged to refer to a review on recent progress in formulation development for protein therapeutics by Razinkov [3].

The scientific and engineering aspects of design, development, scale-up, and manufacture of monoclonal antibodies are summarized in this chapter by outlining the key elements in the development of the expression cell line, cell culture, cell harvest, and protein purification process and exploring the effect of process technologies on production economics.

2 Cell Line

2.1 Choice of a Host Cell Line

Protein therapeutics are generally produced from a recombinant production cell line, which is constructed by the introduction of the DNA encoding the therapeutic protein into a host cell line and harnessing the synthetic capacity of the cell to express the recombinant protein. The choice of host cell line determines critical aspects of therapeutic protein production, including yield, purity and quality of the protein, timelines, scale-up, and cost of goods.

Simple polypeptides, such as insulin, can be produced from bacterial systems, such as *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), which, owing to its short doubling time, has the advantages of rapid development of recombinant cell lines as well as low cost and short production bioreactor processes (reviewed by [4]). However, there are significant limitations to *E. coli* expression systems owing to the inability to perform disulfide bonding to assemble complex proteins and the lack of posttranslational modifications (PTMs) such as glycosylation, carboxylation, hydroxylation, sulfation, and amidation [5].

In contrast to bacterial cells, eukaryotic cells are equipped with the cellular machinery for the folding and assembly of complex proteins, as well as for performing PTMs. Yeast and insect cells can be used for production of therapeutic proteins [6] and, owing to their rapid cell division and scalability, have some of the same advantages as bacterial expression systems. However, they produce glycoproteins with carbohydrate structures that are different from human-type glycosylation and have the potential to impact both the in vivo activity and immunogenicity

of expressed proteins [5]. Systems for plant-made pharmaceuticals (PMPs) have been developed using transgenic plants [7], transgenic moss [8], or plant cell suspension cultures [9]. Again, some of the natural plant glycan structures are species specific, containing terminal beta (1,2) xylose and alpha (1,3) fucose residues that are not found in humans [10]. Efforts are ongoing to engineer PTMs in microbial [11], insect [12], and plant [13] cell systems in order to make these systems more suitable for protein therapeutic production.

Immortalized mammalian cells are most commonly used for recombinant therapeutic protein production [14]. Rodent host cell lines provide more humanlike glycosylation; they include mouse myeloma (NS0 and Sp2/0), baby hamster kidney, and Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells. However, these rodent cell lines also produce nonhuman alpha-gal and N-glycolylneuraminic acid (NGNA) glycoform structures that can affect in vivo clearance and immunogenicity, thereby impacting the pharmacokinetics of the therapeutic protein [15, 16]. Avoiding this issue, there are human host cell lines available for the production of fully human PTMs (reviewed by [17, 18]). Cell lines derived from the human embryonic kidney cell line (HEK-293) are used for the production of a number of approved therapeutic proteins, including recombinant clotting factors and fusion proteins, where additional PTMs such as gamma-carboxylation and sulfation are important for bioactivity [19]. The human HT-1080 cell line, derived from a fibrosarcoma, is used for the production of approved enzyme therapies, iduronate-2-sulfatase, agalsidase alfa, and velaglucerase alfa. Other human cell lines, PER.C6 (derived from human embryonic retinal cells; [20]) and CAP-T (derived from human amniocytes; [21]), are also being used to produce therapeutic proteins that are currently in preclinical and clinical development. Although human host cell lines offer advantages in terms of PTMs and associated bioactivity, there are theoretical concerns about the potentially increased risk of contamination of therapeutic proteins with adventitious viruses capable of infecting human patients. However, this has been addressed by incorporating the appropriate mitigation strategies during manufacturing, combining viral inactivation and clearance steps with suitable testing strategies [17, 19].

The most commonly used mammalian expression host is that of CHO cells and accounts for the production of >70% of approved therapeutic proteins [22], building a strong regulatory track record for this expression host cell line. As a rodent cell line, there is a species barrier to the production of viruses that can infect humans, and studies have confirmed that CHO cells are resistant to infection with many viruses that can infect humans [23]. Furthermore, the development of CHO-based expression platforms has enabled the removal of animal-derived components, such as serum, from the cell culture medium for cell line development and bioreactor processes, both reducing costs and concerns about adventitious virus contamination. In addition, not only are CHO cells amenable to the introduction of therapeutic protein genes, additional genetic engineering can be performed to modify the growth and metabolism of the cells and product quality attributes (reviewed by [24]). These engineering approaches have been enabled by the development of "omics" technologies and the accruing reference data for CHO

cells (reviewed by [25]) and by the availability of new genome editing tools for genetic engineering such as zinc finger nucleases, meganucleases, Talens, and the CRISPR-Cas9 system (review by [25, 26]). Tangible examples of these engineering approaches are the knockout of FUT-8 genes in CHO to enable the production of fucosyl antibodies conferring improved antibody-dependent cytotoxicity [27] and expression of single [28] or multiple heterologous genes [29] to improve glycan sialylation, which impacts glycoprotein half-life in vivo [28, 29].

As the CHO host cell is a current industry-standard platform, the remainder of this section will focus on CHO production systems.

There are in fact a plethora of different CHO host cell lines, as described by Wurm [30] and Lewis [31]. The original CHO cell line was derived from the ovary of an adult Chinese hamster by Puck [32] and later underwent cloning and other manipulations to derive a number of different CHO cell lines, including those commonly used for the production of therapeutic proteins. These include CHO-K1, CHO DG44, CHO-S, and CHO DUXB11, and these were originally cultured in medium containing serum. However, with the concerns about the cost, variation in the performance of different batches of serum, and the risks of contamination with adventitious viruses, these cell lines have been adapted to grow in animal-component-free media. The choice of individual CHO host is partly driven by the expression system used for recombinant protein production. The CHO DG44 cell line is deficient in dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) and so is typically used with the DHFR expression system that complements this deficiency, as described below. The different CHO host cell lines can show differences in productivity phenotype, for example, recombinant cell lines from CHOK1 showed higher productivities for two difficult-to-express antibodies compared with cell lines created using DUXB11 [33]. However, the host cell lines are themselves heterogeneous, containing cells that show a diversity of characteristics, such as growth and ability to perform posttranslational modifications [34, 35]. These heterogeneous phenotypes result from genetic diversity, which can be observed as the varied karyology profiles of individual cells in a host population [30, 36] and from epigenetic variation. This genetic plasticity enables the adaptation of CHO cells to different culture media or culture conditions and contributes to the versatility of CHO cells for therapeutic protein production.

2.2 Gene Transfection

2.2.1 Stable Transfection and Selectable Markers

Typically, stable recombinant CHO cell lines are created by integrating linearized plasmid DNA encoding the therapeutic protein into the host genome so that, as the cell divides, the transgenes are transmitted to each daughter cell as the chromosomal DNA is replicated and segregated. Transfection methods to enable the transfer of the plasmid DNA to transfer across the cell membrane include

electroporation, calcium phosphate, cationic polymers, and lipid-based reagents. The process of integration of the plasmid DNA into the host genome is highly inefficient, and therefore, screening for recombinants is usually facilitated by including a selectable marker on the plasmid. This can be an antibiotic resistance gene, which can be selected by the addition of antibiotic to the cell culture medium or a metabolic gene such as DHFR or glutamine synthetase (GS), which can be selected by supplementing the cell culture medium with the specific enzyme inhibitors methotrexate and methionine sulfoximine, respectively (reviewed by [37]). Typically, transfectants that have incorporated the selectable marker and are resistant to the selection reagent also usually express the protein therapeutic as the genes are physically linked. Strong viral or housekeeping gene promoters are used to drive high levels of transcription of the therapeutic protein genes to maximize expression [38].

A number of strategies to improve the efficiency of the generation of highproducing transfectants have been developed and have been reviewed elsewhere [39]. These include the use of higher-stringency selection by using CHO host cells that have a knockout in the GS or DHFR endogenous metabolic marker that is used for selection [40] and/or attenuation of the selectable marker carried by the expression plasmid [41]. Other approaches incorporate chromosomal architectural sequences, such as ubiquitous chromatin opening elements (UCOE) or matrix attachment regions (MARS) into the expression plasmid to help promote expression of the therapeutic transgenes by enhancing or maintaining transcription once the plasmid is integrated into the host genome [38, 42]. Transposon-based expression systems can increase the frequency of high-vielding cell lines by increasing gene copy number and insertion at transcriptionally favorable sites [43]. Alternatively, expression plasmid DNA can be targeted by site-specific recombination to particular regions in the CHO genome that are known to be favorable for expression [44]. Similarly, expression plasmids can be targeted by site-specific recombination to regions of artificial chromosomes that have been developed to be maintained in CHO cells [45].

2.2.2 Transient Expression

Stable cell line development is time-consuming and resource intensive, and, at early stages of development, more-rapid methods with higher throughput, based on transient expression, are generally used to make therapeutic protein candidates for early characterization studies. Historically, transient expression systems based on the human HEK-293 cell line have been used for transient expression owing to its propensity for high transfection efficiencies and correspondingly high yields of recombinant protein (reviewed by [46]). Although transient expression in HEK-293 cells can be indicative of the expression levels of recombinant proteins seen in stable CHO cells [47], there are differences in product quality such as the glycosylation profiles [48, 49]. The desire to produce early-stage material that is more representative of the final production cell line has driven the development of

transient CHO systems that are capable of high yields. A number of CHO-based transient systems have now been developed involving engineering of the host cell line [50-53] and/or optimizing the transfection and production processes (reviewed by [54]). In these CHO transient systems, plasmid DNA is introduced into cells using either electroporation [55] or a range of reagents including polyethylenimine (PEI), calcium phosphate, or lipid-based systems [54, 56, 57]. The DNA that reaches the nucleus is transcribed and the mRNA processed and then transported to the cytoplasm where it is translated. No selection is applied, and the cells are allowed to grow and express over a period of a few days to a few weeks, with levels of the plasmid per cell reducing over time as the cells divide. Although CHO transient systems were initially developed for rapid expression of multiple candidates, the technology is being advanced for production at scale. With the achievement of titers exceeding 2 g/L at the 6-L scale [51], it is now becoming feasible to rapidly produce material for pharmacology, formulation, and toxicology studies without having to establish a stable cell line.

2.3 Clone Selection and Single-Cell Progeny

Stable transfection generates heterogeneous cell lines in terms of their productivity, growth, bioreactor performance, and product quality. This heterogeneity between individual transfectants arises from two sources. First is from the integration of the expression vector into different sites in the host genome and the variation in the number of copies of the expression vector, which impact the transcription of the genes encoding the therapeutic protein. Second, as described above, individual cells in the host population have heterogeneous phenotypes that determine characteristics such as doubling time, maximal cell density, metabolism, and product quality [30, 35]. This variation means that it is important to screen recombinant cell lines to ensure that candidate production cell lines express therapeutic protein with suitable product characteristics and that the growth and productivity parameters are suitable for scale-up in a production bioreactor. Finally, to ensure consistency of product quality and process performance, it is important to ensure that any cell line is clonally derived from a single originator transfectant, so that the cells in the cell line population are genotypically and phenotypically homogeneous. The processes for single-cell cloning are described below.

2.3.1 Cloning Processes

The regulatory guidelines direct that recombinant production cell lines should be "cloned from a single progenitor cell" (ICH Q5D). There are a number of different strategies and technologies to derive clonal cell lines (reviewed by [58]). Limiting dilution methods, where low concentrations of cells in suspension are distributed into multi-well plates, can be applied such that a cell line is recovered from a single

cell in an individual well. Traditionally, a statistical analysis of data on the recovery of colonies in wells has been used to support clonality of the derived cell lines [59]. However, with the advent of high-content imaging systems, limiting dilution statistics can be supplemented with detailed images that resolve and identify the originating single cell in a well at the time of plating. The capillary-aided cellcloning method uses capillaries to transfer individual cells in a small droplet of culture medium from a dilute cell suspension into the well of a plate that is then visually assessed to confirm the presence of a single cell before addition of further medium [60]. Another approach uses the ClonePix robot system and involves dispensing cell suspensions into semisolid medium, allowing single cells to grow into colonies and then using the automated imaging and picking capabilities of the robot to transfer single, well-separated colonies into the individual wells of a multiwell plate [61]. The use of suitable fluorescent detection reagents in the semisolid medium enables enrichment of the colonies picked for those secreting recombinant product. The fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS) can be used for sorting of a cell suspension and single-cell deposition into individual wells of a multi-well plate [62]. The sorting capability of the FACS instrument can be leveraged by using fluorescently labeled reagents to detect either the product or a surrogate that is present on the cell surface and then sorting on the basis of the fluorescence signal [63]. Microfluidics is a developing technology that can also be applied to single-cell cloning [64]. Cells can be captured in picodroplets of culture medium in an oil emulsion, the resulting droplets can then be imaged on microfluidic chips, and those containing a single cell can be sorted and subsequently dispensed into plates. Additionally, as the recombinant protein is secreted by the cell into the culture medium in the droplet, this offers the potential to couple isolation of single cells with performing assays on the picodroplet for secreted product to assess yield or product quality [65].

2.3.2 Screening Strategies

Central to the cell line development strategy is that cell lines are screened in an established "platform" bioreactor process using production medium and feed, so that cell lines are selected as "fit to process" and minimize the requirement to perform further upstream process development before scale-up and manufacture of product for the clinic. Following cloning, the individual cell lines are assessed to find those that have suitable growth and productivity characteristics. In order to manage the assessment of the large numbers of cell lines, this process involves a screening cascade with a series of cell line evaluation steps where the numbers of cell lines reduce at each stage (Fig. 1). The first step generally simply identifies those cell lines expressing the therapeutic product, usually by detecting or measuring product secreted into the culture medium. Those cell lines expressing product are advanced to the next evaluation step that involves evaluating cell lines in fed-batch culture to assess both growth and productivity. Traditionally, this was performed using shake flask cultures, but manual handling restricts the number of

Protein Production in Eukaryotic Cells



Fig. 1 A generic cell line development screening cascade. As the number of cell lines decreases at each screening step, more detailed data can be collected on each cell line in culture processes that are increasingly more predictive of the final production bioreactor production process. Example numbers of cell lines screened and the collected data at each stage are summarized in the *text boxes*

cell lines that can be evaluated in parallel to a few tens. However, the development of high-throughput, small-scale, fed-batch culture processes using multi-well plates allows hundreds of cell lines to be assessed in parallel [66]. Subsequently, further performance data can then be obtained on multiple (24–48) cell lines in parallel by using scaled-down bioreactor systems, which control pH and dissolved oxygen, generating data that are predictive of larger-scale bioreactors in terms of cell growth, productivity, and metabolism [67]. An additional output from the microscale reactor systems is the cell culture samples containing representative product for analysis of product quality attributes. The resulting cell line bioreactor performance and product quality data are assessed to select candidate production cell lines for further in-depth characterization before selecting the final clone for the creation of a master cell bank (MCB).

2.3.3 Product Characterization During Development of Stable Cell Lines

The cell line and the upstream process both contribute to determining the product quality attributes of protein therapeutics. Therefore, it is important to integrate product quality analysis into the cell line screening process. The generation of analytical data is facilitated by high-throughput analysis of product within the cell culture medium [68] or by integration with high-throughput purification and analytical assays. The exact assays are determined by the properties of the product itself, but typically include evaluation of glycosylation, aggregation, fragmentation, and amino acid sequence integrity. Amino acid sequence integrity is assessed by mass spectrometry methods and peptide mapping [69] and confirms that the expected sequence is being produced. Product sequence variants containing one or more amino acid substitutions can occur as a result of mutations in the encoding DNA or misincorporation of amino acids during translation in the production cell line [69–72]. As these sequence variants are cell line specific, it is feasible to screen them out during clone selection if the causal genetic modification has occurred prior to cell cloning.

2.4 Phenotypic and Genotypic Stability

A critical requirement for the upstream production process is that it is robust and generates product of consistent quality across different batches and scales in order to satisfy both regulatory and commercial requirements. To achieve this, the production cell line must demonstrate suitable growth, productivity, and product quality over the generations required to run the manufacturing process (Fig. 2). Therefore, candidate production cell lines are typically evaluated for phenotypic and genotypic stability at different time points over approximately 70 generations before final clone selection to mitigate the business risk of selecting a cell line that is not sufficiently stable. Regulatory requirements for demonstrating cell line stability are described in the ICH Q5D guidelines.

A number of underlying genetic mechanisms of instability of product expression have been characterized, including gene loss, gene rearrangements, and gene silencing [73]. In addition, as described above, product-related variants owing to genome mutations can occur during cell line development and subsequent subculture. Initially, cells with these genetic changes can be at a very low level within a cell population, so that they are difficult to detect by standard product or genetic characterization methods. However, if these genetic changes confer a benefit to the cell in terms of reduced biosynthetic and metabolic burden, this can lead to faster cell growth, and in turn these aberrant cells can begin to increase in proportion in relation to other cells in the population and consequently impact product expression levels and/or product quality.

Regulatory approval requires that the production cell line is genetically characterized in accordance with the regulatory guidelines (ICH Q5B). This includes analysis of the integrated expression construct for copy number, typically by QPCR, and assessment of insertions or deletions of the transgenes and the number of plasmid integration sites, generally using Southern blotting. In addition to protein analytical characterization, confirmation of the protein sequence for the therapeutic protein is performed by sequencing genomic copies of the encoding Protein Production in Eukaryotic Cells



Fig. 2 Phenotypic and genotypic stability assessment in relation to manufacturing time scales. *Top panel*: seventy generations exceed the number of cell doublings required to expand a research cell bank (RCB; generation 0) to create master and working cell banks (MCB and WCB) and then to run the production bioreactors up to commercial supply scale (12,000 L). Cell banks are generated from cells from the production bioreactors – the end of production cell bank (EPCB) and also the limit of in vitro cell age cell bank (LIVCACB) that defines the upper limit of the number of cell generations used for the manufacturing bioreactor process. *Bottom panel*: candidate production cell lines are cryopreserved as RCBs and then *characterized* over a further 70 generations to demonstrate a suitably stable phenotype and genotype in cell culture processes that simulate the production process

genes or by sequencing cDNA produced from RNA transcripts. Next-generation sequencing is also beginning to be applied as a characterization tool for assessing copy number, structure, and sequences of therapeutic protein genes as well as transcript sequence [74].

2.5 Cell Banking

Production cell lines are cryopreserved to enable long-term storage and to sustain consistent manufacture of a therapeutic protein through the clinical development and commercial phases of the drug life cycle. Methods and strategies for the cryopreservation of production cell lines have been reviewed elsewhere [75]. Typically, a tiered system of frozen cell banks is used as outlined in the ICH Q5D guidelines. At the end of cell line development, candidate production cell lines are cryopreserved as a research cell bank (RCB) or pre-master cell bank

(pre-MCB). A single vial of the RCB of the final clone is then used to create an MCB containing several hundred identical vials. Cells from a high-viability culture are centrifuged, and the cell pellet is resuspended in culture medium containing a cryopreservant, typically 5-15% dimethyl sulfoxide, to create a homogeneous suspension that is then dispensed into individual vials before being frozen and stored in the vapor phase of liquid nitrogen at temperatures below -135°C. The process of preparing the vials is performed aseptically under controlled conditions to minimize the introduction of any environmental contaminants. The MCB is the starting point for manufacture of a therapeutic protein product, and so it is vital to safeguard the MCB to maintain drug supply. Hence, MCB vials are stored in at least two independent liquid nitrogen Dewars to mitigate risk of a catastrophic Dewar failure and to maintain supply of the therapeutic product. Also, in order to conserve the use of MCB vials, working cell banks (WCBs) are cryopreserved in a similar way to the MCB, each WCB consisting of a several hundred vials, being derived from a single vial of the MCB. A single vial of the WCB is then revived and expanded to provide culture to inoculate a production reactor. At early stages of clinical development or if only a few vials of the MCB are required each year for product supply, MCB vials can be used for manufacture, avoiding the need to generate a WCB. Historically, cryopreserved MCBs are very stable if stored appropriately, with cells reviving in a consistent way even after many years. The recovery data of the cell banks is tracked over time so that, if necessary, a new MCB can be generated to maintain drug supply.

Typically, cell banks are cryopreserved in small (1–2 mL) cryovials, and cells from each vial are revived into 50–100 mL of cell culture medium and then expanded into larger culture volumes over sequential passages to generate sufficient cells to inoculate the production reactor. At the commercial supply stage, there is a desire to shorten the timelines, and the duration of this expansion phase can be shortened by reviving a larger number of cryopreserved cells at the start of the process. This can be achieved by cryopreserving cells in larger cryopreservation bags (150 mL). In turn, this process requires the availability of high-density and high-viability cell cultures, which can be produced from a bioreactor process in a fed-batch or perfusion mode [75].

Cells used in the manufacturing process are also cryopreserved for the purposes of safety testing, which is described in the next section. Cell culture is removed from the production bioreactor to create the cell banks. If the cells are at high viability, the cells can be cryopreserved directly, whereas lower viability cells are serially subcultured until they reach high viability before being cryopreserved. Freezing high-viability cells ensures that the cells can later be successfully revived. These banks are termed end of production cell banks (EPCB) and limit of in vitro cell age cell banks (LIVCACB) when the cells have reached the maximal number of cell generations that will be used for the manufacturing bioreactor process.

2.6 Safety Testing

Safety testing of the cell banks and the culture harvest at the end of bioreactor production process is performed to ensure patient safety, as outlined in ICH guidelines Q5A and Q5D. Identity testing of the cell banks is performed to confirm the species of origin of the cell line and is important as the cell lines can become contaminated with other cell lines if not appropriately segregated [76]. Tests for microbial and viral contamination are performed on the cell banks and the bioreactor harvest or unprocessed bulk (UPB) according to ICH guidelines Q5A and using methods summarized by Mclean and Harbour [77]. The testing of the UPB, end of production, and limit of cell age banks (EPCB and LIVCACB; Fig. 2) confirms that microbes or adventitious viruses were not introduced during the production process, for example, through the use of contaminated raw materials in the culture process [78] or from the environment. In addition, the risk of introducing contamination with adventitious viruses is mitigated by the use of animal-component-free culture medium, screening raw materials, and heat treatment of culture medium to inactivate viruses. The development of next-generation nucleic acid sequencing technologies provides an additional method for testing and investigating potential incidences of contamination [79]. As next-generation sequencing technology gains regulatory acceptance, it has the potential to reduce the need for the in vivo testing that forms part of the traditional program of virus testing. It is well documented that CHO cell lines possess type A and type C endogenous retrovirus that express retroviral particles [80]. However, these particles have been found to be defective and noninfectious for cells from other animals, including human, and are not considered to present a safety risk [81].

3 Cell Culture Process

3.1 Inoculum Train

Manufacturing of a protein therapeutic starts with the thaw of a vial of a frozen cell bank. Cells are diluted in nutrient medium and placed in shake flasks. Cultures are progressively scaled up in larger shake flasks, by passaging to the next stage when they have grown to a predefined cell density range. Cells are then transferred to disposable bags (20 or 50 L) and subsequently to larger inoculum bioreactors, often known as seed bioreactors. For the earlier stages in shake flasks and disposable bags where pH is not actively controlled, CO_2 -enriched air is used to buffer the growth media. For seed bioreactors, pH is controlled within a range by way of sparging CO_2 gas (acid) or dilute sodium hydroxide (base) as needed. Temperature is controlled throughout the inoculum train, and for seed bioreactors, dissolved oxygen (pO₂ measured in mmHg) is also controlled at a predefined set point. The primary objective of inoculum train is to generate sufficient quantity of cells at high viability to inoculate the production bioreactor where protein production occurs.

3.2 Production Bioreactor

Nutrient and environmental conditions within the production bioreactor are optimized to ensure growth and maintenance of cells at high viability to enable maximum expression of protein of acceptable quality. Environmental conditions that need to be controlled include temperature, pH, oxygen (pO_2), carbon dioxide (pCO_2), and hydrodynamic shear. Agitation and aeration in the bioreactor are controlled such that the oxygen demand of cells is met and dissolved CO_2 is maintained within a predefined value. Agitation also ensures uniformity in concentration of cells and nutrients inside the vessel. Since many product attributes including glycosylation are primarily determined at the cell culture stage, control of bioreactor process parameters is very important. Also, culture viability before harvest is maintained sufficiently high so that the cell harvest process runs smoothly and product variants that may be formed due to released enzymes (e.g., sialidases) [82] are minimized. Low viability also results in higher levels of host cell DNA and proteins, which makes their clearance through the purification steps more challenging.

While the scale of production depends on the product demand, production stage bioreactors as large as 25,000 L are being used in the industry for suspension cell culture [83]. Production bioreactors are often stainless steel reactors although disposable reactors up to 2,500 L are also available [84] and are being increasingly used owing to their ease of implementation and routine operation, reduced change over time between batches, and flexibility in plant capacity as demand changes.

3.3 Modes of Operation

The most typical mode of operation, termed fed-batch mode, involves adding concentrated nutrient-rich feeds periodically during the course of the bioreactor run to supply nutrients such as glucose and amino acid consumed during growth and product expression. This mode is preferred for its balance of simplicity and ability to satisfy nutrient demands to very high cell densities and hence is the mode most used in the industry. It should be noted, however, that this configuration does not work for all molecular formats. If the protein molecule is unstable at the temperature and pH conditions of the bioreactor or because of enzymatic action, it becomes necessary to minimize the residence time of the product in the bioreactor, making a perfusion mode of operation preferable. For example, commercial production of recombinant human Factor VIII is performed using a perfusion system [85]. Also, if the production cell line is anchorage dependent, cells are often grown

on microcarriers. A seasonal influenza vaccine is produced in Vero cells that grow on microcarriers [86]. In addition to providing anchors for cell growth, microcarriers also protect cells from excessive shear.

An emerging trend in the industry is the interest in continuous bioprocessing [2]. The continuous system makes an attractive option to increase the throughput of the plant allowing manufacture of large amounts of product in a facility with smaller-scale bioreactors. Many cell retention devices can be used for perfusion process [87], but alternating tangential filtration (ATF) devices are particularly popular [88]. Also, a perfusion process may be used to increase the cell density in the last inoculum reactor, which in turn results in a higher seeding cell density in the production bioreactor. It should be noted that perfusion, which involves continuous addition of medium and removal of product with return of cells back to the bioreactor, does increase the volume of medium consumed as well as the complexity of operation.

3.4 Process and Media Optimization

During the design of the process, the nutrient concentrations in the basal medium as well as in the nutrient feeds are carefully optimized considering the shifting metabolic needs of the cells during the growth stage and during protein expression. Due to risks associated with transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE) and other transmissible diseases of animal origin, industry has shifted away from the use of animal sera or media containing serum components. However, some serum or serum components are occasionally used during cell line development. Although some companies use only chemically defined media, many rely on animal proteinfree formulations that do not have any components of animal origin but may contain complex raw materials such as hydrolysates. Industrial cell culture media contain a number of components and commonly include glucose, amino acids, vitamins, salts, trace metals, buffering agents, and antioxidants. Components such as growth hormones may also be included. Additionally, growth media contain shear protectants in the form of surface active polymers such as pluronic polyols [89]. Media optimization is usually achieved via rational understanding of cellular needs as well as through empirical experimental studies. An important criterion for medium design is to stay within a narrow range of osmolality (approximately 300-500 mOsm) where mammalian cells thrive. Equally important is the design of nutrient feeds, which often have higher nutrient concentrations compared to those in growth media. Since the growth media and nutrient feeds often contain multiple components that interact with each other, scientists rely on statistical experiments to improve process productivity and optimize product quality. Such experiments are carried out in benchtop bioreactors (2-5-L working volume) or in miniaturized bioreactors with working volumes as low as tens of milliliters [90]. Industry has been quite successful in continually increasing the titers for mammalian cell culture processes. A recent example of a significant titer increase, accomplished by optimizing nutrient concentrations and process conditions without the need for a cell line change, was reported by Ahuja [91].

In addition to approaches mentioned above, advances on multiple fronts continue to enhance the understanding of mammalian cell metabolism. These advances relate to different omics technologies [92, 93] and flux analysis techniques [94]. These techniques help scientists generate hypotheses for further developing growth media and nutrient feeds.

3.5 Equipment Design and Maintaining Sterility

The primary goals of the mechanical design of the bioreactor are to prevent ingress of microbial and adventitious viral agents, to supply oxygen needed for cell growth and product expression, and to provide adequate mixing to ensure homogeneity. Sterility is achieved by ensuring that the bioreactors provide a closed environment with the sterile boundary and that the media, feed, and base used in the manufacturing process are sterilized through membrane filters as they enter the bioreactor. Bioreactors are commonly run at positive head space pressure (generally ≤ 5 psig) to minimize the risk of bacterial contamination. Requirement of the sterile boundary necessitates the design of a robust sterile-in-place (SIP) method and other operational procedures for bioreactor operation and maintenance, the details of which can be found elsewhere [95]. Sterilization cycles for bioreactors and autoclaves are designed to provide sterility assurance level (SAL) in excess of 10^{-6} , where SAL of 10^{-6} indicates the probability of one out of 10^{6} sterilization cycles to be unsuccessful [96].

Adventitious agents of concern include bacteria, yeast, mycoplasmas, and viruses. Use of 0.1-µm filtration is generally effective in removing bacteria, yeast, and mycoplasma. For higher assurance of inactivation of mycoplasmas and viruses, heat treatment (high-temperature short time (HTST)) could be employed. HTST treatment of media and feeds involves exposure to temperature about 102°C for approximately 10 s [97]. This treatment has been successfully shown to inactivate multiple viruses including minute virus of mice (MVM), which has been implicated in facility contaminations as recent as 2011 [98]. In addition to heat treatment, another possible technology for inactivating viruses is the use of UV-C (ultraviolet light in the C spectrum) irradiation [99], which so far has found limited use in the industry. Yet another approach is gamma irradiation, which is frequently used for inactivating viruses in sera used for biologics manufacturing [98]. Gamma irradiation is also used to sterilize disposable bags and bioreactors [100].

The bioreactor usually has an aspect ratio (diameter to height ratio) of approximately 1:1.5, which is higher compared to that of a microbial fermenter (approximately 1:3) [101]. A shorter reactor would be better for maintaining homogeneity even though it might be less efficient in oxygen transfer for a given amount of power input [102]. Bioreactors are continuously mixed to ensure homogeneity of cells, nutrients, and environmental parameters such as pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, and pCO₂, as well as to improve gas–liquid mass transfer by reducing the size of the gas bubble as well as that of the liquid boundary layer. Many impeller types including Rushton, hydrofoil, elephant ear, marine, and pitched blade can be seen in the industrial bioreactors [103, 104]. Compared to Rushton impellers, more efficient impellers such as axial hydrofoil impellers make an attractive choice, as the latter can be operated with lower power input to provide the desired level of mixing and mass transfer, and they also provide better axial (vertical) mixing [105]. In large-scale bioreactors, it is common to have two impellers with the bottom impeller located above the sparger, which supplies gases (air, oxygen, and CO_2) to the bioreactor. Bioreactors may also contain baffles to aid adequate mixing. Also, if possible, nutrient feeds and base used for pH control are added through subsurface addition; this has been shown to significantly reduce pH fluctuations during base addition in the bioreactors [106].

Foaming, the extent of which depends upon the medium type and sparge conditions, is usually controlled using products containing simethicone. Foaming is not desirable as it can act as a trap for cells, which in turn can be damaged by bubbles bursting on the liquid surface [107]. Moreover, excessive foaming can compromise bioreactor sterility if the foam wets the exhaust filter.

3.6 Process Scale-Up

One must be aware of different physical and chemical environments that may exist as the process is scaled up from a small lab scale to a larger production-scale bioreactor, as maintaining similar environmental conditions is the key to successful scale-up. Parameters that are routinely controlled in a bioreactor are temperature, pH, agitation, and dissolved oxygen (pO_2). Temperature and pH set points remain the same as the process is scaled up. The pO_2 set point may require changing to account for the increased pressure in a larger bioreactor in order to maintain the oxygen concentration across scales.

Agitation rate changes with scale and is commonly estimated using the scale-up criterion based on same power input per unit bioreactor volume (P/V). P/V is a common scale-up criterion since it is a broad indicator of mixing and mass transfer characteristics. Mixing time is inversely related to agitation rate up to a point, and it generally increases with scale and is usually in the order of minutes in large-scale (10,000–15,000 L) reactors [108]. As long as they are significantly lower than characteristic times of gas–liquid oxygen transfer and cellular oxygen uptake [104], differences in mixing times across scales do not pose a problem as they have been found to be satisfactory for dispersing nutrient feeds and base, which are intermittently added in the process. Shear stress experienced by cells in a bioreactor can be estimated by the knowledge of agitation speed [109] or more precisely, by using computational fluid dynamics [110]. Excessive shear, which may generate turbulent eddies (known as Kolmogoroff eddies) with sizes similar to that of cells, can damage cells directly. However, it has been shown that the lethal level of shear

needed to directly damage cells is significantly higher than what is normally experienced in the bioreactors [111]. This offers flexibility in scale-up as agitation set point calculated based on P/V can be adjusted as necessary to optimize other parameters.

Compared to agitation, a more critical factor is the effect of gas sparging on bioreactor performance. Sparge rate and/or composition (relative proportion of air and oxygen) is continuously varied to compensate for the change in the rate of oxygen consumption during the course of the culture in order to maintain the pO_2 within a narrow range. It has been well established that major damage to cells in a bioreactor occurs when bubbles burst at the top of the surface [107]. High rate of sparging, in addition to damaging cells, can also cause excessive foaming. The other important effect of gas sparge rate and composition is the level of CO₂ in culture. Cellular metabolism results in evolution of CO_2 and has to be removed at the same rate to prevent accumulation, as high levels of pCO₂ have been shown to negatively affect the product yield and product quality [112]. High levels of pCO₂ in the bioreactor reduce the pH, which in turn results in higher base addition. This increases the osmolality, which may negatively affect the culture performance. Higher levels of pCO₂ can also affect the intracellular pH, which can result in altered process performance. Appropriate control of pCO₂ in the bioreactor is therefore critical to successful scale-up.

The gases (air and oxygen) sparged to meet cellular oxygen demand in a bioreactor also serve to remove CO2. In large-scale bioreactors, removal of CO2 is more challenging than in smaller vessels. As indicated earlier, it is typical for process engineers to maintain a similar P/V as the criterion for scale-up of agitation. This approach ensures adequate mixing, comparable shear imparted to the cells by the impeller, and comparable mass transfer efficiencies to satisfy cellular oxygen demand. However, because the larger-scale vessel is considerably taller, the residence time of gas bubbles is significantly longer, and they reach near-saturation levels of CO₂ concentration [113], thereby losing their ability to strip out CO₂. This in turn leads to an accumulation of CO2 in the bioreactor. To ensure similar levels of CO₂ between scales, careful consideration of equipment design and sparging strategy is important. Equipment design could include impeller design, sparger design, number of spargers, and their placement. Design of sparging strategy, that is, the profile of sparge rate and composition throughout the culture, should consider cellular CO₂ metabolism/stripping in addition to oxygen metabolism/ supply.

While designing the agitation rate and sparging strategy, the process engineer must take into consideration the constraints of mixing, shear stress, damage due to sparging, oxygen supply, CO_2 accumulation, and foaming. For example, although a high gas flow rate would be preferred for keeping p CO_2 levels low, it might result in excessive foaming. Figure 3 depicts the interplay between different constraints and how they all must be looked into for optimizing operating conditions in a bioreactor.



The concerns listed above apply to fed-batch as well perfusion cultures with the latter having increased demands for oxygen transfer, CO_2 removal, and foaming due to much higher cell densities.

4 Harvest

Cell harvesting is the separation or retention of cells and cellular debris from the supernatant containing the target molecule. Selection of a harvest method depends greatly on the type of cells, mode of bioreactor operation, process scale, and characteristics of the product and cell culture fluid. Whether the bioreactor is operated in continuous (perfusion), batch, or fed-batch mode, the optimal harvest method preserves cell viability in order to avoid release of intracellular enzymes and impurities that could negatively impact product quality and complicate the purification process. Harvest techniques used for perfusion cell culture must also be designed to maintain sterility of the bioreactor throughout the duration of the perfusion operation, which may be up to several weeks. Further details on cell retention techniques for perfusion can be found in the review by Voisard et al. [114]. Most traditional harvest methods use some form of filtration, centrifugation, or a combination of both for cell separation and/or retention. Filtration methods include normal flow depth filtration and tangential flow microfiltration and achieve separation based on particle size differences. Centrifugation methods achieve primary separation based on density differences and are typically followed by depth and sterile filtration for removal of small debris from the centrate. The ability to predictably scale the selected harvest method helps ensure successful production and is critical for conducting small-scale characterization studies for confirming parameter targets and ranges.

4.1 Methods for Cell Harvest

Batch harvest methods include tangential flow filtration (TFF), depth filtration, and centrifugation. Tangential flow filtration has traditionally been used for lower solid containing <2% and higher viability cell cultures.TFF retains cells using a membrane while the clarified filtrate flows through. The flow along the membrane surface helps keep the membrane from fouling. This method is linearly scalable and, depending on the membrane pore size, can generate clarified cell culture fluid with minimal downstream filtration. Since cells are concentrated during harvest, this method is limited by the concentration factor and product yield that can be achieved. While single-use options for TFF are available, reuse is generally economically more favorable.

Depth filters separate cells based on size exclusion by forcing the liquid through a porous medium in normal flow mode. The medium traps cells and cellular debris while the liquid flows through to a collection vessel. Depth filters of different nominal pore sizes are often used in series to allow the larger cells to be trapped in the first stage and cellular debris to be trapped in the second stage. As harvest volumes increase, the amount of depth filtration area also increases, leading to a larger footprint and less economic advantages when compared to TFF and centrifugation.

Centrifugation is the most widely implemented harvest method for large-scale manufacturing. Centrifuges separate cells from the product-containing liquid by exploiting density differences between the solid cells and the liquid. In a continuous disk stack centrifuge, the feed is accelerated via a rotating bowl, and the solids are thrown toward the outer radius where they contact a series of closely placed, angled disks. The solids travel down the sides of the disks, collect at the bowl periphery, and are discharged intermittently by opening and closing the bowl. The clarified liquid travels upward and out of the centrifuge. The clarified liquid typically is filtered downstream through a combination of depth and membrane filters to ensure complete solids removal. Centrifugation provides significant advantages over filtration including high process yields, effective and consistent clarification performance, and lower resources for process development. However, among the three most commonly used harvest methods, centrifugation is operationally more complex and more challenging to scale up.

4.2 Scale-Up of Centrifugation

Centrifugation takes advantage of density differences between cellular solid particles and cell culture fluid in order to achieve separation. Particles that differ in density will settle at different rates in response to an applied gravitational or centrifugal force. Assuming laminar flow and approximating cellular particles as spheres enable application of Stoke's law, which defines particle settling velocity as:

$$V_{\rm t} = \frac{\omega^2 r \left(\rho_p - \rho l\right) d^2}{18\mu},\tag{1}$$

where V_t is the settling velocity, ω^2 is the angular velocity, r is the distance of the axis of rotation, ρ_p is the density of the particle, ρl is the density of the liquid, and μ is the viscosity of the liquid.

Ambler related the particle settling velocity to the flow rate and settling area of a centrifuge using:

$$V_{\rm t} = \frac{Q}{\Sigma},\tag{2}$$

where Q is fluid flow rate and Σ is a relationship Ambler derived for various types of centrifuges [115]. For a disk stack centrifuge, Ambler defined Σ as:

$$\Sigma = \frac{2\pi N\omega^2}{3g} \left(r_2^3 - r_1^3 \right) \cot \alpha, \tag{3}$$

where *N* is the number of disks, ω^2 is the angular velocity, r^2 is the maximum disk radius, r^1 is the minimum disk radius, and α is the half cone angle of the disk.

With these relationships, the development scientist can experimentally determine the settling velocity of the cellular solid particles using bench-scale centrifuges. Since sigma factors are known for each centrifuge, the scientist can solve for feed flow rate in Ambler's equation. In theory, operation of the centrifuge at the determined flow rate should yield a centrate with similar clarity as that found in the bench-scale centrifuge experiment. However, in reality, the centrifuge system is more complicated and additional experimentation is needed to fully predict separation performance. Prediction of performance using the sigma factor relationship is more reliable when comparing Q/Σ from similarly-designed centrifuges. For example, a laboratory-scale disk stack centrifuge may be used to predict the flow rate range needed to achieve the same separation as a production-scale disk stack centrifuge via:

$$\left(\frac{Q}{\Sigma}\right)_{\text{lab}} = \left(\frac{Q}{\Sigma}\right)_{\text{production}}.$$
(4)

Even when using a scaled-down version of the production centrifuge, scientists often need to apply a safety factor to account for the effects of differing particle size distributions, shear-induced cell lysis, higher discharge pressures, and variable solid volumes from batch to batch.

Several researchers have successfully developed small-scale models to mimic the shear created within the feed zone of a large-scale centrifuge [116–118]. When used with a laboratory-scale centrifuge, the shear models have had success predicting centrate clarity from a pilot-scale centrifuge [117].

4.3 Filter Sizing

Filter sizing for harvest operations is best determined empirically with scaled-down devices and representative feedstocks. In theory, Darcy's relationship between flow rate and the pressure drop resulting from the flow through a porous material can be used to describe filtration performance:

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \frac{k\Delta PA}{\mu L} \tag{5}$$

where dV/dt is flow rate, k is bed permeability, μ is liquid viscosity, ΔP is pressure drop, L is bed thickness, and A is filtration area.

However, applying Darcy's law to biological filtrations is challenging because of the difficulty in calculating the bed permeability and the resistance (k/L) for these fluids. Though permeability and resistance could be estimated from the Kozeny–Carman expression [119], experimental measurements are usually a better option. Experiments can be performed either at constant pressure (V_{max}) or at constant flux (P_{max}) [120]. The V_{max} method applies the linear form of the pore-plugging model to predict the maximum volume that can be filtered:

$$\frac{t}{V} = \frac{1}{Q_{\rm i}} + \frac{t}{V_{\rm max}},\tag{6}$$

where t is time, V is volume, Q_i is initial filtrate flow rate, and V_{max} is the maximum volume that can be filtered at the test pressure before the membrane fouls.

The experiment is performed by filtering at a constant pressure and measuring the filtered volume as a function of time. If the plot of t/v versus t is linear, then the gradual pore-plugging model applies and V_{max} is calculated from the inverse of the slope. If the plot of t/v versus t is nonlinear, then the constant flux method should be used. Generally, constant pressure experiments are best for screening depth filtration options and constant flux experiments are best for estimating filtration performance. Unless numerous studies are performed with multiple feedstocks, the experimentally determined filtration area is increased by 50–100% to provide a margin of safety for large-scale depth filtration harvest operations [121]. Depth filtration sizing experiments are relatively easy to perform, and generally similar harvest areas and filter types can be used across pilot and commercial scales.

Harvest operations for cell culture are typically filtration or centrifugation or a combination of both methods. Harvest performance is still heavily determined by

experimental data, although improved scale-down models and high-throughput systems continue to be developed.

5 Purification

5.1 Purification Process Targets

Purification of biopharmaceuticals must strike a balance between several competing goals to achieve an optimal result. While each drug is unique, these competing goals often encompass product quality, manufacturing facility fit, adherence to platform process principles, robustness, scalability, productivity, yield, cost of goods for manufacturing (COGM), employee safety, environmental impact, freedom to operate (intellectual property), and validation. While it is beyond the scope of this work to discuss all of these considerations in detail, a few definitions and general guidelines are provided below.

Product quality is defined as the suitability of either a drug substance or drug product for its intended use. This term includes such attributes as identity, strength, and purity (ICH Q8(R2)).Typical limits for process-related impurities and bacterial endotoxins in biopharmaceuticals are provided in Table 1. There are additional considerations for product-related substances and impurities that are specific to each biopharmaceutical. These species may need to be controlled and, therefore, must also be taken into account during design of a purification process.

Good manufacturing facility fit can be thought of as the ability to run a process optimally with few if any changes to the existing facility or equipment. Common purification process bottlenecks, such as buffer requirements that exceed storage capacity, are avoided. For monoclonal antibodies in particular, adherence to platform process principles, where most aspects of process design are fixed, can usually avoid many facility fit issues.

Process robustness is defined as the ability of a process to tolerate variability of materials, process parameters, and equipment performance without negative impact

Impurity	Limit	References
Host cell protein (HCP)	Varies based on risk assessment; often ng HCP/mg drug	[122], author experience
Small and synthetic macromol- ecule impurities	Varies based on risk assessment; often µg impurity/mg drug	[123], author experience
DNA	≤10 ng/dose	[124]
Endotoxin	\leq 5 EU/kg body weight per h ^a	USP <85> ^b

Table 1 Typical limits for process-related impurities in biopharmaceuticals

^aFor parenteral administration other than intrathecal

^bThe United States Pharmacopeia Convention <85> Bacterial Endotoxins Test. www.usp.org/ usp-nf/harmonization/stage-6/bacterial-endotoxins-test on quality (ICH Q8(R2)). As process deviations and upsets are possible occurrences during routine manufacturing, good process robustness is a critical goal of purification process development.

Process productivity (e.g., kg/year) and yield (e.g., kg/batch) are related but not identical. These parameters determine how much drug a given facility can produce per unit time and at what cost. Cost of goods for manufacturing (COGM) is impacted by productivity and yield, as well as other parameters such as raw material costs and labor costs. Process economics is discussed in greater detail later in this chapter.

5.2 Purification of Monoclonal Antibodies

Given the importance of the biopharmaceutical market and scale of production as indicated earlier in this chapter, tremendous effort has been devoted to mAb purification process development. Numerous comprehensive reference texts on the subject are available (e.g., [125]). Here, we will briefly describe the culmination of decades of biopharmaceutical development, resulting in the modern mAb platform purification process.

Figure 4 shows a process flow diagram for a common variant of the mAb platform purification process. This process begins with removal of cells and clarification by continuous centrifugation and depth filtration. The clarified culture broth containing the mAb is captured by Protein A affinity chromatography. This is followed by a dedicated viral clearance step – low-pH inactivation. The anion exchange flow through chromatography step is principally a viral clearance step, although it can also clear process-related impurities such as DNA. The cation exchange step serves to remove process and product-related impurities. Much of



Fig. 4 Process flow diagram for a common variant of the modern mAb platform purification process

the process development effort is dedicated to optimization of this step for removal of product aggregates. Another dedicated viral clearance step, virus filtration, is performed after cation exchange. Lastly, the mAb is concentrated and buffer exchanged into formulation buffer by ultrafiltration/diafiltration.

In most instances, the Protein A column is placed first in the purification train to capture product from clarified cell culture broth [125–127]. This configuration provides an optimal balance of process similarity for different molecules, favorable COGM for routine commercial manufacturing, and process robustness. However, process models developed to predict cost of goods and facility capacity tend to be sensitive to Protein A capture column dynamic binding capacity (DBC) [128, 129]. As a result, the last decade has seen introduction of multiple generations of Protein A stationary phases designed to achieve higher DBCs.

5.3 Affinity Chromatography

Owing to the demand for mAbs, the industrial-scale use of Protein A chromatography with column diameters in excess of one meter is now routine. Staphylococcal Protein A (SpA) is a 42 kDa single-chain protein localized to the outer surface of *Staphylococcus aureus* [130–133]. Native SpA is composed of five Fc-binding domain-designated E, D, A, B, and C [134–136].

The potential of SpA to be used as an affinity ligand for protein purification was recognized early on. Initial SpA affinity resins consisted of native Protein A coupled to a base matrix usually through covalent bonding to amines. Since then, extraordinary improvements have been made in Protein A chromatography resins. Among the most innovative is the Z domain, which represents an analogue of the native B domain developed for purification of Fc-fusion proteins [137, 138]. A derivative of the Z domain engineered for greater alkaline stability, incorporated in mAb Select Sure from GE Healthcare, has gained widespread use for capture of mAbs and Fc-fusion proteins.

Protein A chromatography is most often used for capture of biopharmaceuticals. It serves to remove process-related impurities, including cell culture media components, host cell protein, and DNA. Fc-containing proteins are typically bound to Protein A at neutral or near neutral pH and eluted under acidic conditions below pH 4.0.

Other affinity matrices are used in mammalian cell culture processes. Notably, recombinant Factor VIII preparations have historically utilized custom-designed immunoaffinity resins [139]. However, as non-mAb recombinant proteins manufactured in 2013 represent less than 2% of the total mammalian cell culture production, these applications comprise a tiny fraction of the bioprocessing capacity represented by Protein A chromatography [1].

5.4 Ion Exchange Chromatography

Due to its gentle processing conditions and relatively low cost, ion exchange is among the most widely used separation modalities for purification of biopharmaceuticals. Most modern ion-exchange media are composed of a porous agarose, methacrylate, or polystyrene base matrix containing either strong or weak ionogenic groups. Ion-exchange membrane absorbers are also used for purification of cell culture-derived products, but to a lesser extent.

In most mAb platform processes, ion-exchange steps serve primarily a viral clearance function, in the case of anion exchange, and a polishing function for aggregate removal, in the case of cation exchange. For non-mAb processes, ion exchange serves a much wider variety of functions ranging from capture to polishing. Proteins are usually bound under low ionic strength conditions and eluted at higher ionic strength, although some proteins (mAbs in particular) have demonstrated higher binding capacity at intermediate ionic strength owing to electrostatic exclusion effects [140]. Binding and elution by varying pH can also be employed although this approach is not as widely used and generally requires more time and effort for process development.

Contributions from both thermodynamic and rate factors govern the performance of ion-exchange chromatography. The thermodynamic component is described by the equilibrium adsorption isotherm, while the rate is usually governed by mass transfer resistance. Early generations of ion-exchange media had relatively poor equilibrium capacity and mass transfer characteristics. By comparison, more recent iterations strike a good balance of equilibrium binding capacity and mass transfer rates for many protein biopharmaceuticals.

Mechanistic models of ion-exchange adsorption usually require a description of the equilibrium isotherm and in many instances require a numerical solution of the general diffusional transport model [141]. However, constant pattern solutions for column breakthrough are available for the external film model and the linear driving force model. For instances of strong binding, which can be approximated by a rectangular isotherm and which is frequently encountered with ion-exchange media at low ionic strength, exact analytical solutions are available [141].

5.5 Hydrophobic Interaction and Multimodal Chromatography

Hydrophobic interaction chromatography (HIC) and multimodal chromatography are widely used for purification of cell culture products. Because of the need for salts composed of kosmotropic anions and chaotropic cations (e.g., ammonium sulfate), HIC does tend to have greater drawbacks compared to other modalities. The high concentrations of salt required may necessitate special waste treatment prior to discharge from the manufacturing facility. Moreover, HIC can be quite sensitive to a number of operating parameters and, therefore, requires more time and effort to develop a robust and scalable unit operation. Nonetheless, HIC unique selectivity often proves indispensable in biopharmaceutical purification, requiring the investment be made to overcome these challenges.

Proteins are commonly bound to HIC ligands at high ionic strength using ammonium sulfate, sodium sulfate, or sodium citrate and eluted by lowing the ionic strength. HIC is used extensively for demanding separations such as removal of product aggregates and fragments. It is most often used in a polishing configuration later in the process. While HIC can be used for product capture, this is relatively rare due to complications that can arise when adding large amounts of salt to cell culture harvest broths and the tendency of HIC resins to become fouled due to the higher proportion of impurities in these feed streams.

Multimodal chromatography utilizes ligands typically composed of both ion-exchange and HIC modalities. In general, these matrices mitigate some of the manufacturing drawbacks of HIC. For example, the use of concentrated salt solutions is often not required for multimodal chromatography. From a process development perspective, the time and expense to develop a multimodal purification step are intermediate between that of HIC and ion exchange. Therefore, it is usually evaluated before HIC for challenging separations that cannot be achieved by less selective methods.

Binding and elution of proteins on multimodal resins can occur under conditions similar to either HIC or ion exchange, depending on the specific nature of the protein. Some proteins show a strong tendency toward one mechanism, while others may be able to utilize either depending on other parameters such as solution pH. Multimodal chromatography is utilized in a wide variety of roles for removal of both process- and product-related impurities.

5.6 Scale-Up of Chromatography Steps

A number of factors must be considered prior to scale-up of process chromatography unit operations. These usually encompass equipment and hardware, column packing and pressure-flow relationships, dynamic binding capacity, yield, selectivity, and resolution [142]. Due to loss of wall support, higher backpressure is encountered in larger diameter columns as scale is increased for the same bed height. This effect is now relatively well understood and predictable using mathematical relationships for compressible media [143]. The quality of column packing is usually evaluated using relatively simple inert tracer pulse response experiments to measure height equivalent to a theoretical plate (HETP) and peak asymmetry. A practical guide to qualification of chromatographic columns and setting limits for these parameters is provided by Rathore et al. [144].

Capacity, selectivity, and resolution are usually optimized using laboratoryscale models. Dynamic binding capacity (DBC) is best measured using representative feedstocks with >1 cm diameter columns at the target bed height and mobile phase velocity to ensure that both selectivity and resolution are maintained at scale; the process developer needs to have a good understanding of potential sources of variability and the normal operating ranges for all relevant process parameters. For example, aggregate removal by stepwise elution from ion-exchange resins tends to be sensitive to both pH and ionic strength [145]. If the process requires tighter operating ranges than can be achieved in manufacturing, process performance or product quality may suffer. Scale-up of gradient elution and prediction of optimal stepwise elution conditions using relatively simple mathematical relationships has been established by Yamamoto and coworkers [146].

5.7 Viral Safety Considerations

Viral safety of biopharmaceutical preparations is of paramount consideration. For products made using well-characterized cell lines, at least two unit operations with orthogonal clearance mechanisms have to be tested for clearance capability using model viruses [147]. Cell lines used for biopharmaceutical production often contain endogenous retroviruses. Moreover, adventitious viral contamination may occur through ingress from raw materials, cell banks, or process operations. Viral safety must be assured for both sources of viral contamination. In the authors' experience, a large proportion of questions from regulatory authorities concern viral safety matters. Therefore, attention to detail in this area during process development and execution of viral clearance studies is particularly important.

For monoclonal antibody processes, the majority of clearance is usually derived from low-pH virus inactivation (i.e., exposure to low pH, typically 3.6 or lower, sufficient to inactivate enveloped viruses), anion exchange flow through chromatography, and virus filtration (a dedicated membrane filter with a pore size, usually 20–40 nm, smaller than the size of the virus desired to be removed). The cation exchange step can also serve to clear viruses if needed [148]. Low pH, anion exchange, and virus filtration can often provide a combined log reduction value (LRV) of greater than 15 if implemented correctly for xenotropic murine leukemia virus, which is a commonly used model virus for clearance studies.

5.8 Ultrafiltration/Diafiltration (UF/DF)

In many cell culture processes, UF/DF is used as a process step to perform a simple buffer exchange and concentration function. They may also serve to remove small impurities with a high sieving coefficient. In practice, removal of many smallmolecule impurities by UF/DF may not follow ideal behavior and can be described using mathematical models developed by Zydney and coworkers [149].

For monoclonal antibodies, the final UF/DF step serves to achieve the final drug substance protein concentration and exchange the product into formulation buffer.

As a result of the industry trend toward high-concentration formulations in order to reduce the volume of product dosed, this step can pose unique challenges. In particular, concentration polarization, high shear rates, and high viscosity can lead to scale-up challenges for this unit operation [150]. Furthermore, the requirement for a large amount of product can make this step challenging to develop even in a laboratory-scale setting. To avoid commonly encountered problems associated with slip-induced shear from peristaltic pumps, it is recommended that high-quality diaphragm pumps be used for both development and manufacturing.

6 **Process Economics**

Biotechnology is increasingly providing new and potentially effective proteinbased treatments against many of humankind's most serious diseases. However, treatment in therapy areas such as oncology, neuroscience, and metabolic disease, all with significant unmet medical need, is not viable unless these novel products can be made in sufficient quantity and sold at a price that payers can afford. In addition, the market is becoming increasingly competitive with efficacy of the new drug being of primary importance but time to market and cost becoming key differentiators. Therefore, as this trend in rapid expansion of next-generation biologic portfolios continues to grow, getting to grips with process economics is very important.

There are a number of fundamental components that affect process economics including titer, scale, purification yield, time in plant, facility costs (depreciation, labor, and utilities), raw materials, and process configuration.

6.1 Titer and Economies of Scale

Recombinant protein titers vary widely depending on expression system and protein class. A well-established expression platform such as Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) expression of therapeutic antibodies can reach 10–15 g/L [126]. Other protein classes (e.g., blood factors) may be expressed at significantly lower levels. The impact on cost of goods manufactured per gram (COGM/g) by titer is very significant. As titer continues to increase, the impact of manufacturing costs become more apparent (Fig. 5). Beyond a certain titer, say above 4 g/L, the effect of COGM/g is less dramatic; however, the plant output continues to increase as titer increases, in the absence of purification bottlenecks. With a finite amount of time that can be devoted to process optimization before the program needs to move into clinical evaluation, the allocation of development effort to increasing titer versus other process improvements, downstream, needs to be carefully considered.



6.2 Purification Yield

The overall process yield is a function of the performance of each individual purification step. Improvements in step yield through process optimization and in some cases removal of non-value added intermediate steps can increase the quantity of product per batch and thus reduce COGM. Typically the more complex the process and the more steps required to produce appropriate quality product, the lower the yield and the more expensive the final drug. For an established product type such as antibodies, process yields have risen in recent years from <50% to typically over 70% [151].

6.3 Batch Duration: Run Rate

A biologic manufacturing facility costs money whether it is used or not. Fixed costs, such as depreciation, labor, and power, are constantly accumulating and will be attributed to the COGM in that facility. Therefore, it is essential to maximize the potential number of batches that the plant can handle. Fermentation duration, number of bioreactors, number of purification suites, and the purification time are some of the key components that dictate run rate. Clearly the number of bioreactors and purification suites may not be easily changed; however, the way that the fermentation and purification process are optimized and run to maximize run rate is of paramount importance.

6.4 Material Costs and Process Configuration

Production of biologics requires the use of raw materials (chromatography resins, filters, buffer constituents, cell culture media, and water). The cost impact of raw

material used is dependent on scale and in certain cases (resins and filters) whether or not components are reused and, if reused, how many times. The decision to incorporate disposable or reuse is complex. While the disposable path may lead to higher raw material costs, this is potentially offset to some extent by reduction of operating costs and other indirect costs such as cleaning validation [152, 153]. The process configuration is ultimately determined through careful consideration and modeling of potential manufacturing scale, campaign size, and other manufacturing considerations, such as whether or not the process will move into a dedicated or a multiuse facility.

6.5 Cost Modeling

The choice of operating conditions, process performance, and scale of manufacture will all impact COGM. Cost models are typically used to help rationally determine the optimum solution for process configuration and potential process development strategies [154]. Developing a protein therapeutic has high uncertainty and is costly and subject to strict regulatory requirements. The old paradigm of "fail fast-fail cheap" in which early proof of principle was demonstrated before significant investments were made is no longer always the case. With some disease areas becoming increasingly well understood, the requirement to rapidly accelerate through the clinical phases leaves little time to make significant process modifications. Development of processes that are economically viable from the beginning of the process life cycle is becoming increasingly necessary. One way it has been possible to satisfy this contradictory expectation of high productivity, and accelerated timelines is by development of "platform processes" that work especially well for a class of molecules (e.g., mAbs). The use of cost models and other in silico process tools to evaluate and prioritize impact of cost-related factors (e.g., titer, scale, and process choice) with clinical data (potential dose, patient population) and manufacturing facilities is becoming fundamental to strategic and rational selection of process requirements and optimization goals [155].

7 Summary

The progress in bioprocess development and scale-up continues to keep up with the changing nature of treatment paradigms and economic pressures. On the one hand, a fairly solid platform process (described in this chapter) consisting of fed-batch bioreactors, three-column chromatography, and two viral clearance steps has been developed and routinely practiced at large scale for the manufacture of monoclonal antibody products to supply markets with high product demand. At the same time, the industry is also retooling itself to respond to personalized medicine approaches calling for greater number of products with lesser demand by developing disposable

bioreactors and columns. Leveraging the experience gained in developing processes for mAbs, progress is also being made in other recombinant proteins, such as Fc-fusion proteins, multi-specific proteins, and even other product modalities such as gene therapy and cell therapies.

Because of the need to evolve with the changing patient needs, bioprocess development and manufacture will never become a mature field; however, thanks to the rapid progress made over the past decade, it is well past its infancy.

References

- 1. Ecker DM, Jones SD, Levine HL (2015) The therapeutic monoclonal antibody market. MAbs 7(1):9–14
- Konstantinov KB, Cooney CL (2015) White paper on continuous bioprocessing. May 20–21, 2014 continuous manufacturing symposium. J Pharm Sci 104(3):813–820
- Razinkov VI, Treuheit MJ, Becker GW (2015) Accelerated formulation development of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) and mAb-based modalities: review of methods and tools. J Biomol Screen 20(4):468–483
- 4. Huang CJ, Lin H, Yang X (2012) Industrial production of recombinant therapeutics in *Escherichia coli* and its recent advancements. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 39(3):383–399
- 5. Walsh G, Jefferis R (2006) Post-translational modifications in the context of therapeutic proteins. Nat Biotechnol 24(10):1241–1252
- Felberbaum RS (2015) The baculovirus expression vector system: a commercial manufacturing platform for viral vaccines and gene therapy vectors. Biotechnol J 10(5):702–714
- 7. Moustafa K, Makhzoum A, Tremouillaux-Guiller J (2015) Molecular farming on rescue of pharma industry for next generations. Crit Rev Biotechnol 8:1–11
- Decker EL, Reski R (2012) Glycoprotein production in moss bioreactors. Plant Cell Rep 31 (3):453–460
- 9. Huang TK, McDonald KA (2012) Bioreactor systems for in vitro production of foreign proteins using plant cell cultures. Biotechnol Adv 30(2):398–409
- Webster DE, Thomas MC (2012) Post-translational modification of plant-made foreign proteins; glycosylation and beyond. Biotechnol Adv 30(2):410–418
- Anyaogu DC, Mortensen UH (2015) Manipulating the glycosylation pathway in bacterial and lower eukaryotes for production of therapeutic proteins. Curr Opin Biotechnol 36:122–128
- 12. Contreras-Gomez A, Sanchez-Miron A, Garcia-Camacho F, Molina-Grima E, Chisti Y (2014) Protein production using the baculovirus-insect cell expression system. Biotechnol Prog 30(1):1–18
- Gomord V, Fitchette AC, Menu-Bouaouiche L, Saint-Jore-Dupas C, Plasson C, Michaud D, Faye L (2010) Plant-specific glycosylation patterns in the context of therapeutic protein production. Plant Biotechnol J 8(5):564–587
- Butler M, Spearman M (2014) The choice of mammalian cell host and possibilities for glycosylation engineering. Curr Opin Biotechnol 30:107–112
- Ghaderi D, Taylor RE, Padler-Karavani V, Diaz S, Varki A (2010) Implications of the presence of N-glycolylneuraminic acid in recombinant therapeutic glycoproteins. Nat Biotechnol 28(8):863–867
- Ghaderi D, Zhang M, Hurtado-Ziola N, Varki A (2012) Production platforms for biotherapeutic glycoproteins. Occurrence, impact, and challenges of non-human sialylation. Biotechnol Genet Eng Rev 28(1):147–175
- 17. Dumont J, Euwart D, Mei B, Estes S, Kshirsagar R (2015) Human cell lines for biopharmaceutical manufacturing: history, status, and future perspectives. Crit Rev Biotechnol 18:1–13

- Swiech K, Picanco-Castro V, Covas DT (2012) Human cells: new platform for recombinant therapeutic protein production. Protein Expr Purif 84(1):147–153
- McCue J, Kshirsagar R, Selvitelli K, Lu Q, Zhang M, Mei B, Peters R, Pierce GF, Dumont J, Raso S, Reichert H (2015) Manufacturing process used to produce long-acting recombinant factor VIII Fc fusion protein. Biologicals 43(4):213–219
- 20. Havenga MJ, Holterman L, Melis I, Smits S, Kaspers J, Heemskerk E, van der Vlugt R, Koldijk M, Schouten GJ, Hateboer G, Brouwer K, Vogels R, Goudsmit J (2008) Serum-free transient protein production system based on adenoviral vector and PER.C6 technology: high yield and preserved bioactivity. Biotechnol Bioeng 100(2):273–283
- Schiedner G, Hertel S, Bialek C, Kewes H, Waschutza G, Volpers C (2008) Efficient and reproducible generation of high-expressing, stable human cell lines without need for antibiotic selection. BMC Biotechnol 8:13
- 22. Walsh G (2014) Biopharmaceutical benchmarks 2014. Nat Biotechnol 32(10):992-1000
- Berting A, Farcet MR, Kreil TR (2010) Virus susceptibility of Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells and detection of viral contaminations by adventitious agent testing. Biotechnol Bioeng 106(4):598–607
- 24. Fischer S, Handrick R, Otte K (2015) The art of CHO cell engineering: a comprehensive retrospect and future perspectives. Biotechnol Adv 33(8):1878–1896
- 25. Kildegaard HF, Baycin-Hizal D, Lewis NE, Betenbaugh MJ (2013) The emerging CHO systems biology era: harnessing the omics revolution for biotechnology. Curr Opin Biotechnol 24(6):1102–1107
- Lee JS, Grav LM, Lewis NE, Faustrup Kildegaard H (2015) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome engineering of CHO cell factories: application and perspectives. Biotechnol J 10(7):979–994
- 27. Malphettes L, Freyvert Y, Chang J, Liu PQ, Chan E, Miller JC, Zhou Z, Nguyen T, Tsai C, Snowden AW, Collingwood TN, Gregory PD, Cost GJ (2010) Highly efficient deletion of FUT8 in CHO cell lines using zinc-finger nucleases yields cells that produce completely nonfucosylated antibodies. Biotechnol Bioeng 106(5):774–783
- 28. Lin N, Mascarenhas J, Sealover NR, George HJ, Brooks J, Kayser KJ, Gau B, Yasa I, Azadi P, Archer-Hartmann S (2015) Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) host cell engineering to increase sialylation of recombinant therapeutic proteins by modulating sialyltransferase expression. Biotechnol Prog 31(2):334–346
- 29. Yin B, Gao Y, Chung CY, Yang S, Blake E, Stuczynski MC, Tang J, Kildegaard HF, Andersen MR, Zhang H, Betenbaugh MJ (2015) Glycoengineering of Chinese hamster ovary cells for enhanced erythropoietin N-glycan branching and sialylation. Biotechnol Bioeng 112(11):2343–2351
- Wurm FM (2013) CHO quasispecies—implications for manufacturing processes. Processes 1 (3):296–311
- 31. Lewis NE, Liu X, Li Y, Nagarajan H, Yerganian G, O'Brien E, Bordbar A, Roth AM, Rosenbloom J, Bian C, Xie M, Chen W, Li N, Baycin-Hizal D, Latif H, Forster J, Betenbaugh MJ, Famili I, Xu X, Wang J, Palsson BO (2013) Genomic landscapes of Chinese hamster ovary cell lines as revealed by the *Cricetulus griseus* draft genome. Nat Biotechnol 31 (8):759–765
- 32. Puck TT (1957) The genetics of somatic mammalian cells. Adv Biol Med Phys 5:75-101
- 33. Hu Z, Guo D, Yip SS, Zhan D, Misaghi S, Joly JC, Snedecor BR, Shen AY (2013) Chinese hamster ovary K1 host cell enables stable cell line development for antibody molecules which are difficult to express in DUXB11-derived dihydrofolate reductase deficient host cell. Biotechnol Prog 29(4):980–985
- 34. Davies SL, Lovelady CS, Grainger RK, Racher AJ, Young RJ, James DC (2013) Functional heterogeneity and heritability in CHO cell populations. Biotechnol Bioeng 110(1):260–274
- 35. O'Callaghan PM, Berthelot ME, Young RJ, Graham JW, Racher AJ, Aldana D (2015) Diversity in host clone performance within a Chinese hamster ovary cell line. Biotechnol Prog 31(5):1187–1200

- 36. Derouazi M, Martinet D, Besuchet Schmutz N, Flaction R, Wicht M, Bertschinger M, Hacker DL, Beckmann JS, Wurm FM (2006) Genetic characterization of CHO production host DG44 and derivative recombinant cell lines. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 340(4):1069–1077
- Jostock T, Knopf HP (2012) Mammalian stable expression of biotherapeutics. Methods Mol Biol 899:227–238
- 38. Ho SC, Mariati, Yeo JH, Fang SG Yang YS (2015) Impact of using different promoters and matrix attachment regions on recombinant protein expression level and stability in stably transfected CHO cells. Mol Biotechnol 57(2):138–144
- Lai T, Yang Y Ng SK (2013) Advances in Mammalian cell line development technologies for recombinant protein production. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 6(5):579–603
- Fan L, Kadura I, Krebs LE, Hatfield CC, Shaw MM, Frye CC (2012) Improving the efficiency of CHO cell line generation using glutamine synthetase gene knockout cells. Biotechnol Bioeng 109(4):1007–1015
- 41. Chin CL, Chin HK, Chin CS, Lai ET, Ng SK (2015) Engineering selection stringency on expression vector for the production of recombinant human alpha1-antitrypsin using Chinese Hamster ovary cells. BMC Biotechnol 15:44
- 42. Saunders F, Sweeney B, Antoniou MN, Stephens P, Cain K (2015) Chromatin function modifying elements in an industrial antibody production platform–comparison of UCOE, MAR, STAR and cHS4 elements. PLoS One 10(4), e0120096
- 43. Matasci M, Baldi L, Hacker DL, Wurm FM (2011) The PiggyBac transposon enhances the frequency of CHO stable cell line generation and yields recombinant lines with superior productivity and stability. Biotechnol Bioeng 108(9):2141–2150
- 44. Mayrhofer P, Kratzer B, Sommeregger W, Steinfellner W, Reinhart D, Mader A, Turan S, Qiao J, Bode J, Kunert R (2014) Accurate comparison of antibody expression levels by reproducible transgene targeting in engineered recombination-competent CHO cells. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(23):9723–9733
- 45. Kennard ML, Goosney DL, Monteith D, Zhang L, Moffat M, Fischer D, Mott J (2009) The generation of stable, high MAb expressing CHO cell lines based on the artificial chromosome expression (ACE) technology. Biotechnol Bioeng 104(3):540–553
- 46. Geisse S, Fux C (2009) Recombinant protein production by transient gene transfer into Mammalian cells. Methods Enzymol 463:223–238
- 47. Diepenbruck C, Klinger M, Urbig T, Baeuerle P, Neef R (2013) Productivity and quality of recombinant proteins produced by stable CHO cell clones can be predicted by transient expression in HEK cells. Mol Biotechnol 54(2):497–503
- 48. Bohm E, Seyfried BK, Dockal M, Graninger M, Hasslacher M, Neurath M, Konetschny C, Matthiessen P, Mitterer A, Scheiflinger F (2015) Differences in N-glycosylation of recombinant human coagulation factor VII derived from BHK, CHO, and HEK293 cells. BMC Biotechnol 15:87
- 49. Croset A, Delafosse L, Gaudry JP, Arod C, Glez L, Losberger C, Begue D, Krstanovic A, Robert F, Vilbois F, Chevalet L, Antonsson B (2012) Differences in the glycosylation of recombinant proteins expressed in HEK and CHO cells. J Biotechnol 161(3):336–348
- 50. Cain K, Peters S, Hailu H, Sweeney B, Stephens P, Heads J, Sarkar K, Ventom A, Page C, Dickson A (2013) A CHO cell line engineered to express XBP1 and ERO1-Lalpha has increased levels of transient protein expression. Biotechnol Prog 29(3):697–706
- 51. Daramola O, Stevenson J, Dean G, Hatton D, Pettman G, Holmes W, Field R (2014) A highyielding CHO transient system: coexpression of genes encoding EBNA-1 and GS enhances transient protein expression. Biotechnol Prog 30(1):132–141
- Kunaparaju R, Liao M, Sunstrom NA (2005) Epi-CHO, an episomal expression system for recombinant protein production in CHO cells. Biotechnol Bioeng 91(6):670–677
- 53. Rajendra Y, Hougland MD, Alam R, Morehead TA, Barnard GC (2015) A high cell density transient transfection system for therapeutic protein expression based on a CHO GS-knockout cell line: process development and product quality assessment. Biotechnol Bioeng 112 (5):977–986

- 54. Jager V, Bussow K, Schirrmann T (2015) Transient recombinant protein expression in mammalian cells. In: Al-Rubeai M (ed) Animal cell culture. Springer, Dordrecht
- 55. Steger K, Brady J, Wang W, Duskin M, Donato K, Peshwa M (2015) CHO-S antibody titers >1 gram/liter using flow electroporation-mediated transient gene expression followed by rapid migration to high-yield stable cell lines. J Biomol Screen 20(4):545–551
- Geisse S, Voedisch B (2012) Transient expression technologies: past, present, and future. Methods Mol Biol 899:203–219
- Sou SN, Polizzi KM, Kontoravdi C (2013) Evaluation of transfection methods for transient gene expression in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Adv Biosci Biotechnol 04(12):1013–1019
- Browne SM, Al-Rubeai M (2007) Selection methods for high-producing mammalian cell lines. Trends Biotechnol 25(9):425–432
- 59. Coller HA, Coller BS (1986) Poisson statistical analysis of repetitive subcloning by the limiting dilution technique as a way of assessing hybridoma monoclonality. Methods Enzymol 121:412–417
- 60. Onadipe AO, Metcalfe HK Freeman PR, James C (2001) Capillary-aided cell cloning: a technique for one step cloning with high probability of monoclonality. In: Lindner-Olsson EC, Lüllau N (eds) Animal cell technology: from target to market. Springer, Netherlands
- Nakamura T, Omasa T (2015) Optimization of cell line development in the GS-CHO expression system using a high-throughput, single cell-based clone selection system. J Biosci Bioeng 120(3):323–329
- 62. Evans K, Albanetti T, Venkat R, Schoner R, Savery J, Miro-Quesada G, Rajan B, Groves C (2015) Assurance of monoclonality in one round of cloning through cell sorting for single cell deposition coupled with high resolution cell imaging. Biotechnol Prog 31(5):1172–1178
- 63. DeMaria CT, Cairns V, Schwarz C, Zhang J, Guerin M, Zuena E, Estes S, Karey KP (2007) Accelerated clone selection for recombinant CHO CELLS using a FACS-based highthroughput screen. Biotechnol Prog 23(2):465–472
- Mazutis L, Gilbert J, Ung WL, Weitz DA, Griffiths AD, Heyman JA (2013) Single-cell analysis and sorting using droplet-based microfluidics. Nat Protoc 8(5):870–891
- 65. Joensson HN, Zhang C, Uhlen M, Andersson-Svahn H (2012) A homogeneous assay for protein analysis in droplets by fluorescence polarization. Electrophoresis 33(3):436–439
- 66. Silk NJ, Denby S, Lewis G, Kuiper M, Hatton D, Field R, Baganz F, Lye GJ (2010) Fed-batch operation of an industrial cell culture process in shaken microwells. Biotechnol Lett 32 (1):73–78
- Rameez S, Mostafa SS, Miller C, Shukla AA (2014) High-throughput miniaturized bioreactors for cell culture process development: reproducibility, scalability, and control. Biotechnol Prog 30(3):718–727
- Paul AJ, Schwab K, Hesse F (2014) Direct analysis of mAb aggregates in mammalian cell culture supernatant. BMC Biotechnol 14:99
- 69. Yang Y, Strahan A, Li C, Shen A, Liu H, Ouyang J, Katta V, Francissen K, Zhang B (2010) Detecting low level sequence variants in recombinant monoclonal antibodies. MAbs 2 (3):285–298
- 70. Ambrogelly A, Liu YH, Li H, Mengisen S, Yao B, Xu W, Cannon-Carlson S (2012) Characterization of antibody variants during process development: the tale of incomplete processing of N-terminal secretion peptide. MAbs 4(6):701–709
- Harris RP, Kilby PM (2014) Amino acid misincorporation in recombinant biopharmaceutical products. Curr Opin Biotechnol 30:45–50
- 72. Khetan A, Huang YM, Dolnikova J, Pederson NE, Wen D, Yusuf-Makagiansar H, Chen P, Ryll T (2010) Control of misincorporation of serine for asparagine during antibody production using CHO cells. Biotechnol Bioeng 107(1):116–123
- 73. Kim M, O'Callaghan PM, Droms KA, James DC (2011) A mechanistic understanding of production instability in CHO cell lines expressing recombinant monoclonal antibodies. Biotechnol Bioeng 108(10):2434–2446

- 74. Zhang S, Bartkowiak L, Nabiswa B, Mishra P, Fann J, Ouellette D, Correia I, Regier D, Liu J (2015) Identifying low-level sequence variants via next generation sequencing to aid stable CHO cell line screening. Biotechnol Prog 31(4):1077–1085
- 75. Seth G (2012) Freezing mammalian cells for production of biopharmaceuticals. Methods 56 (3):424–431
- 76. Capes-Davis A, Theodosopoulos G, Atkin I, Drexler HG, Kohara A, MacLeod RA, Masters JR, Nakamura Y, Reid YA, Reddel RR, Freshney RI (2010) Check your cultures! A list of cross-contaminated or misidentified cell lines. Int J Cancer 127(1):1–8
- Mclean C, Harbour C (2013) Contamination detection in animal cell culture. In: Flickinger MC (ed) Upstream industrial biotechnology. Wiley, New Jersey
- Moody M, Alves W, Varghese J, Khan F (2011) Mouse Minute Virus (MMV) contamination–a case study: detection, root cause determination, and corrective actions. PDA J Pharm Sci Technol 65(6):580–588
- Cabannes E, Hebert C, Eloit M (2014) Whole genome: next-generation sequencing as a virus safety test for biotechnological products. PDA J Pharm Sci Technol 68(6):631–638
- Shepherd AJ, Wilson NJ, Smith KT (2003) Characterisation of endogenous retrovirus in rodent cell lines used for production of biologicals. Biologicals 31(4):251–260
- Dinowitz M, Lie YS, Low MA, Lazar R, Fautz C, Potts B, Sernatinger J, Anderson K (1992) Recent studies on retrovirus-like particles in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Dev Biol Stand 76:201–207
- Gramer MJ, Goochee CF (1993) Glycosidase activities in Chinese hamster ovary cell lysate and cell culture supernatant. Biotechnol Prog 9(4):366–373
- Ozturk SS (2014) Equipment for large-scale mammalian cell culture. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 139:69–92
- Arnaud CH (2015) Disposable plastic bioreactors lead to savings—and challenges—for biopharma firms. Chem Eng News 93(46):10–13
- Wurm FM (2004) Production of recombinant protein therapeutics in cultivated mammalian cells. Nat Biotechnol 22(11):1393–1398
- Milian E, Kamen AA (2015) Current and emerging cell culture manufacturing technologies for influenza vaccines. Biomed Res Int 2015:504831
- Woodside SM, Bowen BD, Piret JM (1998) Mammalian cell retention devices for stirred perfusion bioreactors. Cytotechnology 28(1–3):163–175
- Robin J (2013) Case study: challenges and learning in implementing ATF perfusion process. Integrated continuous biomanufacturing ECI conference, Castelldefels, 20–24 October 2013. http://www.engconf.org/staging/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/jarno_ICB-13AQ-Monday.pdf
- Wu J (1995) Mechanisms of animal cell damage associated with gas bubbles and cell protection by medium additives. J Biotechnol 43(2):81–94
- Hsu WT, Aulakh RP, Traul DL, Yuk IH (2012) Advanced microscale bioreactor system: a representative scale-down model for bench-top bioreactors. Cytotechnology 64(6):667–678
- 91. Ahuja S, Bui T, Chen J, Chen J, Dorotheo R, Jain S, Lee A, Russell B, Singh S, Qu L (2011) Development and scale-up of a high titer cell culture process. Abstracts of papers of the American Chemical Society, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC
- Datta P, Linhardt RJ, Sharfstein ST (2013) An omics approach towards CHO cell engineering. Biotechnol Bioeng 110(5):1255–1271
- Gupta P, Lee KH (2007) Genomics and proteomics in process development: opportunities and challenges. Trends Biotechnol 25(7):324–330
- 94. Antoniewicz MR (2015) Methods and advances in metabolic flux analysis: a mini-review. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 42(3):317–325
- 95. Hines M, Holmes C, Schad R (2010) Simple strategies to improve bioprocess pure culture processing. Pharm Eng 30(3):1–11
- 96. Tsui V, Wiederhold W (2007) A practical approach to steam autoclave cycle development. J Validation Technol 13(2):124

- 97. Schleh M, Lawrence B, Park T, Rosenthal S, Hart R, Dehghani H (2010) Effectiveness of upstream barrier technologies for inactivation of adventitious contaminants of cell culture. Am Pharm Rev 13(7):72
- 98. Goetschalckx S, Fabre V, Wynants M, Bertaux L, Plavsic M, Boussif O, Laenen L (2014) A holistic biosafety risk mitigation approach. Am Pharm Rev 17(4):48–56
- 99. Yen S, Sokolenko S, Manocha B, Blondeel EJ, Aucoin MG, Patras A, Daynouri-Pancino F, Sasges M (2014) Treating cell culture media with UV irradiation against adventitious agents: minimal impact on CHO performance. Biotechnol Prog 30(5):1190–1195
- 100. Weber A, Husemann U, Chaussin S, Adams T, De Wilde D, Gerighausen S, Greller G, Fenge C (2014) Development and qualification of a scalable, disposable bioreactor for GMP-compliant cell culture. Bioprocess Int 12(S5):47
- 101. Keijzer T, Kakes E, Van Halsema E (2011) Advances in the design of bioreactor systems. Innov Pharm Technol 60–64. http://www.iptonline.com/articles/public/ advancesinthedesignofbioreactorsystems.pdf
- 102. Benz GT (2011) Bioreactor design for chemical engineers. Chem Eng Prog 107:21-26
- 103. Mirro R, Voll K (2009) Which impeller is right for your cell line. BioProcess Int 7(1):52-58
- 104. Nienow AW (2006) Reactor engineering in large scale animal cell culture. Cytotechnology 50(1-3):9–33
- 105. Nienow AW (1996) Gas-liquid mixing studies: a comparison of Rushton turbines with some modern impellers. Chem Eng Res Design 74(A4):417–423
- 106. Langheinrich C, Nienow AW (1999) Control of pH in large-scale, free suspension animal cell bioreactors: alkali addition and pH excursions. Biotechnol Bioeng 66(3):171–179
- 107. Hu W, Berdugo C, Chalmers JJ (2011) The potential of hydrodynamic damage to animal cells of industrial relevance: current understanding. Cytotechnology 63(5):445–460
- 108. Hu W, Wiltberger K (2014) Industrial cell culture process scale-up strategies and considerations. In: Hauser H, Wagner R (eds) Animal cell biotechnology: in biologics production. Walter de Gruyter GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin, pp 455–488
- 109. Perez JAS, Porcel EMR, Lopez JLC, Sevilla JMF, Chisti Y (2006) Shear rate in stirred tank and bubble column bioreactors. Chem Eng J 124(1–3):1–5
- Villiger TK (2015) Bioprocess engineering framework to control protein N-linked glycosylation, Diss., Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule ETH Zürich, Nr. 22727
- 111. Mollet M, Ma N, Zhao Y, Brodkey R, Taticek R, Chalmers JJ (2004) Bioprocess equipment: characterization of energy dissipation rate and its potential to damage cells. Biotechnol Prog 20(5):1437–1448
- 112. Meghrous J, Khramtsov N, Buckland BC, Cox MM, Palomares LA, Srivastava IK (2015) Dissolved carbon dioxide determines the productivity of a recombinant hemagglutinin component of an influenza vaccine produced by insect cells. Biotechnol Bioeng 112 (11):2267–2275
- 113. Sieblist C, Hageholz O, Aehle M, Jenzsch M, Pohlscheidt M, Lubbert A (2011) Insights into large-scale cell-culture reactors: II. Gas-phase mixing and CO₂ stripping. Biotechnol J 6 (12):1547–1556
- 114. Voisard D, Meuwly F, Ruffieux PA, Baer G, Kadouri A (2003) Potential of cell retention techniques for large-scale high-density perfusion culture of suspended mammalian cells. Biotechnol Bioeng 82(7):751–765
- 115. Ambler CM (1959) The theory of scaling up laboratory data for the sedimentation type centrifuge. J Biochem Microbiol Technol Eng 1(2):185–205
- 116. Boychyn M, Yim SSS, Shamlou PA, Bulmer M, More J, Hoare A (2001) Characterization of flow intensity in continuous centrifuges for the development of laboratory mimics. Chem Eng Sci 56(16):4759–4770
- 117. Hutchinson N, Bingham N, Murrell N, Farid S, Hoare M (2006) Shear stress analysis of mammalian cell suspensions for prediction of industrial centrifugation and its verification. Biotechnol Bioeng 95(3):483–491

- 118. Tait AS, Aucamp JP, Bugeon A, Hoare M (2009) Ultra scale-down prediction using microwell technology of the industrial scale clarification characteristics by centrifugation of mammalian cell broths. Biotechnol Bioeng 104(2):321–331
- 119. Carman P (1937) Cyclic permeability of granular material. Transl Inst Chem Eng 15:150-167
- 120. Badmington F, Wilkins R, Payne M, Honig ES (1995) Vmax testing for practical microfiltration train scale-up in biopharmaceutical processing. Pharm Technol 19(9):64–76
- 121. Lutz H (2009) Rationally defined safety factors for filter sizing. J Membr Sci 341 (1-2):268-278
- 122. de Zafra CLZ, Quarmby V, Francissen K, Vanderlaan M, Zhu-Shimoni J (2015) Host cell proteins in biotechnology-derived products: a risk assessment framework. Biotechnol Bioeng 112(11):2284–2291
- 123. CMC-Biotech-Working-Group (2009) A-Mab: a case study in bioprocess development. CASSS, Emeryville
- 124. Yang H (2013) Establishing acceptable limits of residual DNA. PDA J Pharm Sci Technol 67 (2):155–163
- 125. Gottschalk U (2008) Bioseparation in antibody manufacturing: the good, the bad and the ugly. Biotechnol Prog 24(3):496–503
- 126. Kelley B (2009) Industrialization of mAb production technology: the bioprocessing industry at a crossroads. MAbs 1(5):443–452
- 127. Liu HF, Ma J, Winter C, Bayer R (2010) Recovery and purification process development for monoclonal antibody production. MAbs 2(5):480–499
- 128. Kelley B (2007) Very large scale monoclonal antibody purification: the case for conventional unit operations. Biotechnol Prog 23(5):995–1008
- 129. Trexler-Schmidt M, Sze-Khoo S, Cothran AR, Thai BQ, Sargis S, Lebreton B, Kelley B, Blank GS (2009) Purification strategies to process 5 g/L titers of monoclonal antibodies. Biopharm Int 22:8–15
- 130. Gouda H, Shiraishi M, Takahashi H, Kato K, Torigoe H, Arata Y, Shimada I (1998) NMR study of the interaction between the B domain of staphylococcal protein A and the Fc portion of immunoglobulin G. Biochemistry 37(1):129–136
- 131. Kim HK, Thammavongsa V, Schneewind O, Missiakas D (2012) Recurrent infections and immune evasion strategies of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Curr Opin Microbiol 15(1):92–99
- 132. Silverman GJ (1998) B cell superantigens: possible roles in immunodeficiency and autoimmunity. Semin Immunol 10(1):43–55
- 133. Surolia A, Pain D, Khan MI (1982) Protein A: nature's universal anti-antibody. Trends Biochem Sci 7(2):74–76
- 134. Graille M, Stura EA, Corper AL, Sutton BJ, Taussig MJ, Charbonnier JB, Silverman GJ (2000) Crystal structure of a Staphylococcus aureus protein A domain complexed with the Fab fragment of a human IgM antibody: structural basis for recognition of B-cell receptors and superantigen activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(10):5399–5404
- 135. Hober S, Nord K, Linhult M (2007) Protein A chromatography for antibody purification. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 848(1):40–47
- 136. Starovasnik MA, O'Connell MP, Fairbrother WJ, Kelley RF (1999) Antibody variable region binding by Staphylococcal protein A: thermodynamic analysis and location of the Fv binding site on E-domain. Protein Sci 8(7):1423–1431
- 137. Nilsson B, Moks T, Jansson B, Abrahmsen L, Elmblad A, Holmgren E, Henrichson C, Jones TA, Uhlen M (1987) A synthetic Igg-binding domain based on staphylococcal protein-A. Protein Eng 1(2):107–113
- 138. Tashiro M, Tejero R, Zimmerman DE, Celda B, Nilsson B, Montelione GT (1997) Highresolution solution NMR structure of the Z domain of staphylococcal protein A. J Mol Biol 272(4):573–590
- Boedeker B (2001) Production processes of licensed recombinant factor VIII preparations. Semin Thromb Hemost 27(4):385–394

- 140. Zydney AL, Harinarayan C, van Reis R (2009) Modeling electrostatic exclusion effects during ion exchange chromatography of monoclonal antibodies. Biotechnol Bioeng 102 (4):1131–1140
- 141. Carta G, Ubiera AR, Pabst TM (2005) Protein mass transfer kinetics in ion exchange media: measurements and interpretations. Chem Eng Technol 28(11):1252–1264
- 142. Hagel L, Jagschies G, Sofer GK (2007) Handbook of process chromatography: development, manufacturing, validation and economics, 2nd edn. Academic/Elsevier, Amsterdam
- 143. Stickel JJ, Fotopoulos A (2001) Pressure-flow relationships for packed beds of compressible chromatography media at laboratory and production scale. Biotechnol Prog 17(4):744–751
- 144. Rathore AS, Kennedy RM, O'Donnell JK, Bemberis I, Kaltenbrunner O (2003) Qualification of a chromatographic column why and how to do it. Biopharm Int Appl Technol Biopharm Dev 16(3):30
- 145. Suda EJ, Thomas KE, Pabst TM, Mensah P, Ramasubramanyan N, Gustafson ME, Hunter AK (2009) Comparison of agarose and dextran-grafted agarose strong ion exchangers for the separation of protein aggregates. J Chromatogr A 1216(27):5256–5264
- 146. Ishihara T, Yamamoto S (2005) Optimization of monoclonal antibody purification by ion-exchange chromatography application of simple methods with linear gradient elution experimental data. J Chromatogr A 1069(1):99–106
- 147. Remington KM (2015) Fundamental strategies for viral clearance part 2: technical approaches. Bioprocess Int 13(5)
- 148. Connell-Crowley L, Nguyen T, Bach J, Chinniah S, Bashiri H, Gillespie R, Moscariello J, Hinckley P, Dehghani H, Vunnum S, Vedantham G (2012) Cation exchange chromatography provides effective retrovirus clearance for antibody purification processes. Biotechnol Bioeng 109(1):157–165
- Shao J, Zydney AL (2004) Optimization of ultrafiltration/diafiltration processes for partially bound impurities. Biotechnol Bioeng 87(3):286–292
- 150. Shire SJ, Shahrokh Z, Liu J (2004) Challenges in the development of high protein concentration formulations. J Pharm Sci 93(6):1390–1402
- 151. Werner RG (2004) Economic aspects of commercial manufacture of biopharmaceuticals. J Biotechnol 113(1-3):171–182
- 152. Sinclair A, Monge M (2002) Quantitative economic evaluation of single use disposables in bioprocessing. Pharm Eng 22(3):20–34
- 153. Sinclair A, Monge M (2005) Concept facility based on single-use systems, part 2. BioProcess Int 3(9)
- 154. Hill C, Sinclair A (2007) Maximizing the use of process data from development to manufacturing. Biopharm Int 20(7):38-42
- 155. Farid SS, Novais JL, Karri S, Washbrook J, Titchener-Hooker NJ (2000) A tool for modeling strategic decisions in cell culture manufacturing. Biotechnol Prog 16(5):829–836